
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html






































































































































































































































































































































































































































AQD Exhibit # 3a







AQD Exhibit # 3a







AQD Exhibit # 3a







AQD Exhibit # 3a












AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a







AQD Exhibit # 10a












Bernalillo County, New Mexico, Code of Ordinances >> - BERNALILLO COUNTY CODE >> Chapter 2 -
ADMINISTRATION >> ARTICLE III. - OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES >> DIVISION 4. - CODE OF ETHICS >>


DIVISION 4. - CODE OF ETHICS [5]


Sec. 2-126. - Authority.
Sec. 2-127. - Declaration of policy.
Sec. 2-128. - Responsibility of public office.
Sec. 2-129. - Definitions.
Sec. 2-130. - Standards of conduct.
Sec. 2-131. - Disclosure of certain financial interests.
Sec. 2-132. - Reporting violations of code of ethics.
Sec. 2-133. - Ethics board.
Sec. 2-134. - Right of appeal.
Sec. 2-135. - Nonretaliation.
Sec. 2-136. Restrictions on employment and appointment after leaving office. -
Secs. 2-137—2-200. - Reserved.


Sec. 2-126. - Authority.


This division is enacted under the authority of NMSA 1978, §§ 3-17-1 and 4-37-1.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 1, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-127. - Declaration of policy.


The proper operation of democratic government requires that candidates, elected officials,
employees and volunteers of local governments be independent, impartial and responsible to the
people; that governmental decisions and policy be made in proper channels of the governmental
structure; that public office or the pursuit of public office not be used for personal gains; and that the
public have confidence in the integrity of its government. To assist in attaining these goals, there is
established a code of ethics for all elected officials and employees and volunteers of county
government, including members of boards, committees and commissions. The purpose of this division
is to establish guidelines for ethical standards of conduct for all candidates for elected office, elected
officials, employees, and volunteers by setting forth those acts or actions which are incompatible with
the best interests of the county and by requiring such candidates, elected officials, employees, and
volunteers to disclose personal interests, financial or otherwise, in matters affecting the county. It is
the further purpose of this code of ethics to protect county employees and volunteers from undue
influence, threats or fear of threat or reprisal with respect to the exercise of their constitutional right to
support candidates of their choice.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 2, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-128. - Responsibility of public office.


Elected officials, employees, and volunteers hold office or employment for the benefit of the
public. They are bound to uphold the Constitution of the United States and the New Mexico
Constitution; to observe the highest standards of law in the exercise of the powers and duties of their
office; to impartially carry out the laws of the nation, state and county; to discharge faithfully the duties


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


1 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(1)


(2)


(3)


(4)
(5)


(6)


(7)
(8)


of their office regardless of personal considerations; and to recognize that the public interest must be
their prime concern.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 3, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-129. - Definitions.


[The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:]


Candidate means any person who has filed a declaration of candidacy for the position of
county commissioner, sheriff, treasurer, assessor or clerk, including the period of time from the filing of
the declaration of candidacy through being sworn into the elected office.


Elected official means the members of the board of county commissioners, sheriff, treasurer,
assessor, and clerk, but does not include the probate judge.


Employee means all persons filling an allocated position of county employment, including
appointees of a county commissioner, the board of county commissioners, or any other elected
official.


Financial interest means any interest which yields, directly or indirectly, a monetary or other
material benefit to the elected official, employee or volunteer, or to any person employing or retaining
services of the elected official, volunteer or employee.


Gift means any money, service, license, permit, contract, authorization, loan, travel,
entertainment, hospitality, gratuity, or any promise of these, or anything of value that is received or
given without equivalent consideration or compensation.


Person means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association or business
organization.


Political activity means:


Preparing for, organizing or participating in any political meeting, political rally, political
demonstration or other political event.
Soliciting contributions on behalf of a political candidate or political party including, but
not limited to, the purchase of, selling, distributing, or receiving payments for tickets for
any political fundraiser, political meeting or other political event.
Soliciting, planning the solicitation of, or preparing any document or report regarding any
thing of value intended as a political contribution.
Soliciting votes on behalf of a candidate for elective office or a political organization.
Initiating for circulation, preparing, circulating, reviewing or filing any petition on behalf of
a candidate for elective office.
Preparing or reviewing responses to candidate questionnaires in connection with a
campaign for elective office or for or against any referendum question.
Campaigning for any elective office.
Managing or working on a campaign for elective office.


Privileged or confidential information means any written or oral material, or electronic data or
media related to county government which had not become part of the body of public information and
which is designated by statute, rule, court decision, lawful order, ordinance, resolution or custom as
privileged, confidential or exempt from disclosure pursuant to the New Mexico Inspection of Public
Records Act.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


2 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(1)


(2)


(3)


(4)


(a)


(b)


(c)
(1)


(2)
a.


b.


c.


Prohibited source means any person or entity who:


Is seeking official action (i) by an elected official or volunteer, or (ii) in the case of an
employee by the employee or by an elected official, a county department or an
employee's supervisor;
Does business with or seeks to do business (i) with the board of county commissioners,
the county, an elected official or volunteer, or (ii) in the case of an employee, with an
employee or his/her department, elected office or an employee's supervisor;
Conducts activities regulated (i) by an elected official or volunteer, or (ii) in the case of
an employee, with the employee or his/her department or the employee's supervisor; or
Has interests that may be substantially affected by the performance or nonperformance
of the official duties of the elected official, volunteer or employee.


Volunteer means any person who is appointed by an individual county commissioner or by a
majority of the board of county commissioners to any board, committee or commission for which the
individual receives no compensation.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 4, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-130. - Standards of conduct.


Fiduciary duty. Elected officials, employees and volunteers shall at all times in the performance
of their public duties owe a fiduciary duty to the county.
Improper influence. No elected official, candidate, employee or volunteer shall make,
participate in making or in any way attempt to use his/her position to influence any county
governmental decision or action in which he knows, he/she has reason to know, or should know
that he/she has any direct financial interest. No county commissioner shall make, participate in
making or in any way attempt to use his/her position to influence any hiring decision or other
decision regarding employment for any county employee, except for appointees of the county
commissioners, the county manager, the county attorney and the fire chief. The prohibition
does not prevent a county commissioner from being listed as a reference for an applicant
seeking employment with the county. The prohibition does not prevent a county commissioner
from participating in and making comments during any ratification process related to the
selection of deputy county managers. The prohibition does not prevent a county commissioner
from raising his/her concerns regarding the performance or conduct of a deputy county
manager or department director with the county manager, or stating his/her satisfaction,
dissatisfaction, compliment, criticism or concern regarding the actions of a deputy county
manager or department director publicly.
Receiving and soliciting gifts or favors.


Except as otherwise provided in this code of ethics, no candidate, elected official,
employee or volunteer shall intentionally solicit or accept any gift or favor from any
prohibited source or in violation of any federal or state statute or regulation, or any
county ordinance, rule or regulation. This ban applies to and includes spouses of and
immediate family members living with the elected official, employee or volunteer. No
prohibited source shall intentionally offer or make a gift that violates this division.
The restriction in subsection (c)(1) does not apply to the following:


Opportunities, benefits, and services that are available on the same conditions as
for the general public.
Anything for which the elected official, employee or volunteer, or his/her spouse,
or immediate family member living with him/her pays the market value.
Any (i) contribution that is lawfully made and reported in accordance with the
Election Code, or (ii) activities associated with a fundraising event in support of a


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


3 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







d.
e.


f.


g.


1.


2.


3.


h.


i.


j.
k.
l.


(3)


political organization or candidate, unless otherwise prohibited by this code of
ethics.
Educational materials with a value of less than $100.00.
Honorarium with a value of $100.00 or less, unless otherwise permitted by this
code of ethics.
A gift from a relative, meaning those people related to the individual as father,
mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, great aunt, great uncle, first
cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, grandfather, grandmother, grandson,
granddaughter, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law,
stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister,
half-brother, half-sister, and including the father, mother, grandfather or
grandmother of the individual's spouse and the individual's fiancé or fiancée.
Anything provided by an individual on the basis of a personal friendship unless the
elected official, employee or volunteer has reason to believe that, under the
circumstances, the gift was provided because of the official position, employment
or volunteer service, and not because of the personal friendship.
In determining whether a gift is provided on the basis of personal friendship, the
elected official, employee or volunteer shall consider the circumstances under
which the gift was offered, such as:


The history of the relationship between the individual giving the gift and the
recipient of the gift, including any previous exchange of gifts between those
individuals;
Whether to the reasonable belief of the elected official, employee or
volunteer the individual who gave the gift personally paid for the gift or
sought a tax deduction or business reimbursement for the gift; and
Whether to the reasonable belief of the elected official, employee or
volunteer the individual who gave the gift also at the same time gave the
same or similar gifts to other elected officials, employees, volunteers or
their spouses or immediate family members living with them.


Food or refreshments not exceeding $100.00 per person in value in a single
calendar day; provided that the food or refreshments are (i) consumed on the
premises from which they are purchased or prepared or (ii) catered. For purposes
of this subsection, "catered" means food or refreshments that are purchased
ready to eat and delivered by any means.
Food, refreshments, lodging, transportation, and other benefits resulting from the
outside business or employment activities (or outside activities that are not
connected to the duties of the official, employee or volunteer as an office holder,
employee or volunteer) of the elected official, employee or volunteer, or the
spouse of the elected official, employee or volunteer if the benefits have not been
offered or enhanced because of the official position or employment of the elected
official, employee or volunteer, and are customarily provided to others in similar
circumstances.
Intra-governmental or intergovernmental gifts.
Bequests, inheritances and other transfers at death.
Any item or items from any one prohibited source during any calendar year having
a cumulative total value of less than $100.00.


An elected official, volunteer or employee does not violate this division if the elected
official, volunteer or employee promptly takes reasonable action to return the prohibited
gift to its source, or gives the gift or an amount equal to its value to an appropriate
charity that is exempt from income taxation under Section 501(C)(3) of the Internal


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


4 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(c)


(d)


(e)
(1)


(2)


a.
b.


(3)


(f)
(1)


(2)


(g)
(1)


(2)


Revenue Code of 1986, as now or hereinafter amended, renumbered or succeeded.
County-owned property. No candidate, elected official, volunteer or employee shall engage in
or permit the unauthorized use of county-owned property for any political activity or in violation
of any county policy.
Use or disclosure of privileged or confidential information. No elected official, volunteer or
employee shall use or disclose privileged or confidential information gained in the course of or
by reasons of his position or employment, other than (i) in the performance of his official duties;
(ii) as may be required by law; or (iii) as permitted by this code of ethics.
Conflicts of interest.


No elected official, volunteer or employee shall make, or participate in making, any
county governmental decisions with respect to any matter in which the elected official,
volunteer or employee, or their spouse or dependent, has any direct financial interest.
For purposes of this section "dependent" shall have the same meaning as provided in
the Internal Revenue Code, as amended.
Any employee who has a conflict of interest as described in subsection (1) above shall
advise his/her supervisor of the conflict or potential conflict. The immediate supervisor
shall either:


Assign the matter to another employee; or
Require the employee to eliminate the economic interest giving rise to the conflict
and only thereafter shall the employee continue to participate in the matter.


Any elected official or volunteer who has a conflict of interest as described by
subsection (1) above shall disclose the conflict of interest and shall not take any action
or make any decisions regarding that particular matter.


Interest in county business.
No elected official, volunteer or employee shall have any financial interest in his/her own
name, or in the name of any other, in any contract, work or business of the county or in
the sale of any article, whenever the expense, price or consideration of the contract,
work, business or sale is paid with funds belonging to or administered by the county.
Compensation for property taken pursuant to the county's eminent domain power shall
not constitute a financial interest within the meaning of this section if sold pursuant to a
process of competitive bidding following public notice. No elected official, volunteer or
employee shall have a financial interest in the purchase of any property that (i) belongs
to the county; or (ii) is sold for taxes or assessment; or (iii) is sold by virtue of legal
process at the suit of the county.
For purposes of this section, "financial interest" shall not include the interest of the
spouse of an elected official, volunteer or employee which interest is related to the
independent occupation, profession or employment of the spouse.


Political activity.
No candidate, elected official, volunteer or employee shall compel, coerce or intimidate
any elected official, volunteer or employee to make, or refrain from making, any political
contribution. No candidate, elected official, volunteer or employee shall directly solicit
any political contribution from county employees or the spouses or immediate family
living with county employees. Nothing in this subsection shall be construed to prevent
any elected official, volunteer or employee from voluntarily making a contribution or
receiving a voluntary contribution.
No candidate or elected official shall accept any campaign contribution in excess of
$1,000.00, per primary, general or special election, from any prohibited source or in
violation of any federal or state statute or regulation, or any county ordinance, rule or
regulation. This ban applies to and includes spouses of and immediate family members
living with the candidate or elected official. No prohibited source shall offer or make a gift


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


5 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(3)


(4)


(5)


(6)


(7)
(8)


(9)


(10)


(11)


(1)


a.


b.


that violates this division. No candidate or elected official shall accept a campaign
contribution from an individual or group of individuals when the candidate or elected
official knows, or has reason to believe, that the original source of the campaign
contribution was a prohibited source.
No employee with contract management authority or property management authority
shall serve as a paid political consultant or as a member of the political fundraising
committee of any elected official or candidate for federal, state, city or county office.
No employee shall be permitted to serve as a paid campaign consultant, paid campaign
treasurer or paid campaign manager for a candidate for federal, state, city or county
office. No employee shall be permitted to receive more than $250.00 in reimbursement
from any political campaign or political candidate, in any 12-month period.
County employees shall not intentionally perform any political activity during any
compensated time (other than annual leave, personal leave, holidays or other time off).
County employees shall not intentionally misappropriate any county property or
resources by engaging in any political activity for the benefit of any campaign for
elective office or any political organization.
At no time shall any elected official, volunteer or employee intentionally misappropriate
the services of any county employee by requiring that employee to perform any political
activity (i) as part of the employee's county duties; (ii) as a condition of county
employment; or (iii) during any time off that is compensated by the county (such as
annual leave, personal leave or holidays).
A county employee shall not be required at any time to participate in any political activity.
A county employee shall not be awarded any additional compensation or employment
benefit in the form of a salary adjustment, promotion, or continued employment in
consideration for the employee's participation in any political activity.
Nothing in this section prohibits activities that are otherwise appropriate for a county
employee to engage in as a part of his official county employment duties or activities
that are undertaken by an employee on a voluntary basis as permitted by law.
No candidate shall engage in any conduct that would, to an objective third-party,
constitute an undue threat to a county employee's continued employment.
County employees who receive compensation or reimbursement from a political
candidate or political campaign in excess of $250.00 shall be required to report such
compensation or reimbursement to the county manager, which shall include disclosure of
the nature of the compensation or reimbursement.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 5, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10; Ord. No. 2011-3, 3-22-11)


Sec. 2-131. - Disclosure of certain financial interests.


Within ten days after swearing in of any elected official, the elected official shall file a
statement of economic interest with the Bernalillo County Clerk. Amended statements of economic
interest shall be filed on an annual basis or before the 11th day of January of each year.


Form of statement. The elected official shall provide the following information to the
county clerk:


Interest in Land. A description of all parcels of real estate within the county in
which the person owns any interest including an option to purchase.
Elected officials shall identify all corporate interests in any business organization,
either as owner, part owner, partner, or shareholder, in which such individual owns
more than two percent of the outstanding stock or more than two-percent
ownership interest of any other business that is doing business with the county in
an amount in excess of $7,500.00 annually.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


6 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







c.


(2)


(3)


(a)


(1)


(2)


(b)


(c)


(d)


(e)


The identity of each person from which the individual who is required to file
received, directly or indirectly, any gift or gifts having an aggregate value of more
than $250.00 within the taxable year preceding the time of filing, except that such
disclosure is not required for any gift from a parent, grandparent, child, grandchild,
brother, sister, parent-in-law, grandparent-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law,
uncle, aunt, niece, nephew, spouse, boyfriend, girlfriend, domestic partner, fiancé
or fiancée.


Amended statements. Any person required to file a statement hereunder shall not be
required to file an amended statement unless that person undergoes a change in those
economic interests that are required to be disclosed by this section. Such persons shall
file the amended statement in the manner prescribed above within 90 days of the date of
any change in circumstances requiring filing thereof.
[Compliance.] All elected officials shall comply with the provisions of this section within
30 days after the requirements hereof are imposed upon such office or position.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 6, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-132. - Reporting violations of code of ethics.


Any person who has reason to believe the code of ethics has been violated by anyone to whom
the code of ethics applies may report the suspected violation in the following manner:


By submitting to the internal audit contractor (IAC), a sworn and signed complaint
alleging facts which, if true, would constitute a violation of the code of ethics. The mailing
address, contact information and direct e-mail link to the IAC shall be posted on the
county's website. Upon receipt of such a complaint, the IAC shall immediately forward
the complaint to the members of the ethics board.
By submitting to the IAC, a confidential statement of facts which, if true, would constitute
a violation of the code of ethics. Upon receipt of such statement of facts, the IAC shall
immediately investigate the allegations and complete its investigation within 60 days. If
the IAC determines that additional time is needed for its investigation, it shall report to
the chair of the ethics board to advise that the investigation will not be completed within
60 days and shall state the reasons why additional time is required to complete the
investigation and provide a date upon which the IAC reasonably believes the
investigation will be completed. If the IAC's investigation results in a finding of facts that
constitute a violation of this code of ethics, the IAC will prepare a sworn complaint and
submit it to the ethics board.


All confidential reports submitted to the IAC shall be provided to the target or subject of the
confidential report prior to being interviewed by the IAC.
All sworn and signed complaints are public records and shall be made available in accordance
with the provisions of the Inspection of Public Records Act.
A statement of facts submitted in accordance with section 2-132(a)(2) shall be subject to
inspection in accordance with the provisions of the Inspection of Public Records Act upon
completion of the IAC's investigation, in those instances when the IAC does not file a sworn
complaint with the ethics board.
Any person who submits a signed and sworn complaint shall expect and agree that his or her
name will be disclosed as part of a public record, upon request. A confidential statement of
facts may be submitted anonymously. However, an individual submitting a confidential
statement of facts may also include his/her name, address, telephone number and email
address to permit the IAC to contact the individual as part of the investigation or for purposes
of receiving a response from the IAC upon completion of the IAC's investigation.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 7, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10; Ord. No. 2011-4, 3-22-11)


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


7 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(a)


(b)


(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


(h)


(i)


(j)


(1)
(2)
(3)


(k)


(l)


(m)


Sec. 2-133. - Ethics board.


There shall be an ethics board which shall consist of five members who shall be appointed by
the board of county commissioners, with each commissioner appointing one member from
his/her commission district. The citizen members shall not be affiliated with county government
in any capacity including, but not limited to, employment (including employment for which the
salary is in any way funded by or through the county), appointment or election. The members of
the ethics board may not hold elected public office or office with any political party within the
county. Terms of office of citizens shall be two years, subject to reappointment thereafter.
Regardless of the date of appointment, the term of any individual appointed to the ethics board
shall expire when the commissioner making the appointment leaves office or his/her term
expires.
The ethics board shall elect its own chair and vice-chair. If any member of the ethics board
petitions the ethics board for a hearing and advice regarding his or her own conduct or the
conduct of others, such member shall not be eligible to sit in such cases, and an alternate
member shall be seated from that commission district when the need arises.
The jurisdiction of the ethics board is limited to acting within the scope of matters covered by
this code of ethics.
The ethics board may recommend amendments to this code of ethics to the board of county
commissioners.
Upon the sworn complaint of any person alleging facts which, if true, would constitute a
violation of this code of ethics, or upon the filing of a complaint by the internal audit contractor,
the ethics board shall conduct a "due process" public hearing.
All investigations required with respect to any alleged violation of the code of ethics shall be
conducted by the county's internal audit contractor.
The ethics board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting "due process" hearings. The
rules of procedure shall be consistent with the rules for conducting administrative hearings in
the State of New Mexico.
The ethics board shall have the power to issue administrative subpoenas compelling the
attendance of witnesses at hearings and the production of documents, and the authority to
seek enforcement of those subpoenas by the Second Judicial District Court.
If the ethics board finds that an employee violated this code of ethics, the ethics board upon a
majority vote of the entire membership, shall forward its written findings of fact and conclusions
of law to the county manager for appropriate action.
If the ethics board finds, upon a majority vote of the entire membership, that a candidate or
elected official has violated this code of ethics, the ethics board may impose any of the
following penalties after the entry of written findings of fact and conclusions of law:


A civil fine not to exceed $1,000.00;
A written finding of censure; or
Make a referral to the appropriate governmental office.


No action may be taken by the ethics board on any complaint which is filed later than one year
after a violation of this code of ethics is alleged to have occurred or which is filed later than six
months from the date of the discovery, upon due diligence by the complaining party, of the facts
constituting a violation, whichever event occurs later.
The ethics board may also provide advisory opinions regarding the applicability or interpretation
of the provision of this code of ethics upon the request of any elected official, volunteer or
employee.
On a quarterly basis, the board of county commissioners shall be provided with a report stating
the number of complaints that were submitted alleging a violation of the ethics ordinance.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


8 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b







(a)


(b)


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 8, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-134. - Right of appeal.


Any decision of the ethics board finding a violation of this code of ethics, with respect to an
elected official, candidate or volunteer may be appealed to the Second Judicial District Court. Any
decision regarding an employee shall be covered by the terms of the employment rules and regulations
or collective bargaining agreement, as applicable.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 9, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-135. - Nonretaliation.


The board of county commissioners does not tolerate retaliation against any person who has
reported a violation of this code of ethics in good faith. This nonretaliation provision applies whether
the complaint is ultimately determined to be well founded or unfounded. All county personnel and
elected officials are specifically prohibited from taking any adverse employment action or other
retaliatory action against anyone in retaliation for reporting a good faith claim of violation. Anyone who
feels that they have been retaliated against in violation of this policy should submit a sworn complaint
to the ethics board setting forth the claim of retaliation.


This nonretaliation provision is not applicable to claims that were not submitted in good faith
and where the ethics board makes a specific finding that the complaint was frivolous.


(Ord. No. 2010-1, § 10, 1-12-10, eff. 2-11-10)


Sec. 2-136. Restrictions on employment and appointment after leaving office.


No former county commissioner shall accept or enter into any arrangement or agreement for
remuneration with the county for consultant work, part-time or full-time employment in any
capacity for a period of 12 months from and after leaving office.
This provision shall have retroactive effect to January 1, 2011.


(Ord. No. 2011-5, 3-22-11)
Editor's note—Ord. No. 2011-5, adopted March 22, 2011, retroactively effective January 1, 2011, did not specifically
amend the Code, hence; inclusion as § 2-136 was at the discretion of the editor.


Secs. 2-137—2-200. - Reserved.


FOOTNOTE(S):
(5) Editor's note— Ord. No. 2010-1, §§ 1—10, adopted Jan. 12, 2010, effective Feb. 11, 2010, repealed the former Div. 4, §§
2-126—2-132 and 2-171—2-185, and enacted a new Div. 4 as set out herein. The former Div. 4 pertained to similar subject
matter and derived from Ord. No. 85-3, adopted Feb. 5, 1985. (Back)


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


9 of 9 5/18/2012 2:41 PM


AQD Exhibit # 10b












AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a







AQD Exhibit # 11a












AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-1 


February 1, 2001 


300. CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 


As a condition of employment, employees are required to comply with the 
provisions of the City of Albuquerque Merit System Ordinance, Labor-
Management Relations Ordinance, Conflict of Interest Ordinance, Personnel 
Rules and Regulations, Executive Orders and Administrative Instructions and all 
relevant laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and collective bargaining 
agreements governing employment with the City of Albuquerque. 


Pursuant to the Conflict of Interest Ordinance, Article 3 (R. O. 1994), the Code of 
Conduct, Section 301, below, shall further govern the conduct of employees and 
if violated shall be grounds for disciplinary action including, but not limited to, 
termination, demotion, suspension or reprimand.   


Additionally, department directors may promulgate, with the review by the 
Human Resources Department and approval of the Chief Administrative Officer, 
Codes of Conduct, rules, regulations and standard operating procedures for 
employees in their departments, which prescribe standards peculiar and 
appropriate to the function, and purpose for which the department was created and 
exists.  Departmental Codes of Conduct shall further govern the conduct of 
employees and, if violated, shall be grounds for disciplinary action including, but 
not limited to, termination, demotion, suspension or reprimand.  


 301. CODE OF CONDUCT 


 301.1 Duty to the Public (March 5, 2005) 


The City of Albuquerque is a public service institution.  In carrying 
out their assigned duties and responsibilities, employees must 
always remember their first obligation is to the general public’s 
safety and well-being.  This obligation must be carried out within 
the framework of federal, state and local laws. 


Employees shall serve the public with respect, concern, courtesy 
and responsiveness, recognizing service to the public is the reason 
for their employment.  Telephone calls, correspondence or other 
communications should be answered promptly or referred to 
appropriate individuals for timely action. 


It is recognized it is not always possible to fulfill all of the requests 
of the general public, however, employees are required to handle 
all requests and inquiries courteously, fairly, impartially, 
efficiently and effectively. 


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-2 


February 1, 2001 


  


301.2 Professional Excellence 


Employees are encouraged to strive for personal and professional 
excellence as a means of keeping current on relevant issues and 
administering the public’s business with professional competence, 
efficiency and effectiveness. 


 301.3 Standards of Conduct 


Employees shall in all instances maintain their conduct at the 
highest personal and professional standards in order to promote 
public confidence and trust in the City and public institutions and 
in a manner that merits the respect and cooperation of co-workers 
and the community. 


Employees shall not use insulting, abusive or offensive language or 
actions toward the public or co-workers.  Ethnic or sexist jokes, 
slurs and other comments or actions that might embarrass or offend 
others are prohibited.  Employees shall not harass others by 
making sexual advances or by creating an intimidating or offensive 
working environment or by making false accusations regarding 
such conduct. Display of visual materials that may be sexually or 
racially offensive is also prohibited. 


Employees shall not have in their possession during assigned work 
hours, including lunch periods, in any facility, vehicle or work site, 
illegal drugs, alcohol, drug paraphernalia, weapons or explosives, 
unless directly related to their city responsibilities.  Additionally, 
employees may not use any product for other than its intended 
manufactured use. 


Employees are responsible for notifying their immediate 
supervisor in writing of a conviction, entry of a “no contest” plea 
or imposition of a sentence if the infraction relates to the position 
held by the employee. Misdemeanor convictions will be 
considered based on job relatedness. 


 301.4 Equal Employment Opportunity 


Employees shall comply with the provisions of Title VII of the 
United States Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the State of 
New Mexico Human Rights Act, as amended, the City of 
Albuquerque Human Rights Ordinance and the City of 
Albuquerque Affirmative Action Plan.  While not all inclusive, 
these laws and the Affirmative Action Plan legitimize the concept 
of merit, qualifications and performance in selection and career  


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-3 


February 1, 2001 


 


advancement and prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, 
color, religion, sex, national origin or ancestry, age, physical or 
mental disability and Vietnam Era or disabled veteran status, 
sexual orientation and medical condition. 


 301.5 Violence in the Workplace 


Workplace violence by employees is prohibited.  Violent behavior 
directed toward a City employee by a member of the general 
public shall not be tolerated. 


Prohibited workplace behavior includes intimidation, verbal 
threats, physical assault, vandalism, arson, sabotage, the 
unauthorized display, possession or use of weapons in the 
workplace, jokes or comments regarding violent acts which are 
reasonably perceived to be a threat, or any other behavior 
reasonably perceived to be a threat of imminent harm against an 
employee or member of the general public. 


An employee who witnesses or is the subject of prohibited 
behaviors must report the incident to their immediate supervisor 
unless the supervisor is the one exhibiting the prohibited behavior, 
in which case the employee shall report the behavior to the next 
highest person within the organization. 


A supervisor receiving the complaint must conduct an 
investigation of the incident and initiate appropriate action to 
eliminate the prohibited behavior.  The supervisor shall prepare a 
written response to the employee reporting the incident.  This 
response shall include an acknowledgment of the employee’s 
complaint, a description of the investigation conducted, and the 
action that was initiated to eliminate the prohibited behavior. 


Employees engaging in any prohibited behavior may be subject to 
mandatory referral for psychological/psychiatric evaluation, 
counseling or mediation, arrest and prosecution, and/or 
disciplinary action up to and including termination from City 
employment.  Refer to applicable Administrative Instructions for 
further guidance. 


 301.6  Report of Abuse (March 5, 2005) 


During the course of business, employees may become aware of 
instances of abuse of equipment, facilities, programs, city driving 
privileges, or other areas of official City business.  As employees 
become aware of these instances, they are to report these events to  


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-4 


February 1, 2001 


 


their immediate supervisor or directly to their department director.  
If an employee fails to report such events and it is determined 
later through an investigation that an employee had knowledge of 
the situation, the employee may be subject to disciplinary action 
up to and including termination. 


 301.7 Weapons 


It is strictly prohibited for any employee, other than sworn law 
enforcement officers, to possess firearms (including handguns, 
regardless of any authorized permit); explosives or dangerous 
weapons on City premises, in City property or at City sponsored 
events.  City premises include worksites and vehicles (owned, 
rented or leased), parking garages and parking lots. 


The City may conduct searches when there is a reason to believe 
that a person is in possession of a firearm including handguns, 
(regardless of any authorized permit), explosives or any other 
weapon, device, instrument or substance, which in the manner it is 
used or intended to be used, is capable of producing death or 
serious bodily injury. 


Any violation of this policy, including a refusal to consent to a 
search, will subject an employee to disciplinary action up to and 
including termination of employment. 


 301.8 Safety (March 5, 2005) 


Employees are responsible for performing assigned duties in the 
safest possible manner, using all available safety measures and 
devices to prevent injury to themselves, coworkers or the general 
public and to report unsafe equipment, materials, or conditions to 
their supervisor and the Risk Management Division. 


Because human dignity and the personal safety of each employee 
are of utmost importance, dangerous practical jokes, horseplay, 
and roughhouse activities are prohibited in the workplace. 


 301.9 False Statements/Fraud 


No employee shall willfully make any false statement, certificate, 
mark, rating or report in regard to any test, certification, 
appointment or investigation, or in any manner commit any fraud, 
conceal any wrongdoing or knowingly withhold information about 
wrongdoing in connection with employment with the City or in 
connection with the work-related conduct of any City employee.  


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-5 


February 1, 2001 


 


301.10 Bribery, Gifts and Donations 


No individual seeking appointment to, or promotion in the service  


 


of the City shall, either directly or indirectly, give, render or pay 
any money, service or other valuable thing to any person for, or on 
account of, or in connection with, a test, appointment, proposed 
appointment, promotion or any personnel action.  Payments to 
licensed employment agencies are exempted. 


No reward, favor, gift, or other form of payment in addition to 
regular compensation and employee benefits shall be received by 
any employee for the performance or nonperformance of their 
duties from any vendor, contractor, individual or firm doing 
business with the City or who can reasonably anticipate doing 
business with the City in the future, or from any other source 
having or proposing to have any relationship with the City of 
Albuquerque. 


Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit an occasional, 
nonpecuniary gift, insignificant in value; an award publicly 
presented in recognition of public service, participation in 
community events, acts of heroism or for solving of crimes; nor 
does it apply to a commercially reasonable loan made in the 
ordinary course of business by an institution authorized by the laws 
of the State to engage in the business of making loans. 


301.11 City Funds 


Employees are personally accountable for City money over which 
they have possession or control.  All employees who are in control 
of City funds must maintain accurate and current records of all 
such funds.  Employees must comply with all policies, practices, 
and procedures promulgated by the Department of Finance and 
Administrative Services and approved by the Chief Administrative 
Officer and in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles regarding the receipt, recording and disbursement of 
public monies. 


301.12 City Property 


Employees are responsible for preventing loss, damage, abuse, 
misuse or theft of City property or property entrusted to the City 
including, but not limited to: artifacts, vehicles, equipment, tools,  


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-6 


February 1, 2001 


supplies and City records.  All City property should be used only 
for City business. City property may not be used for personal gain 
or profit. 


Office furniture, fixtures, vehicles and equipment including lockers 
and storage units are the property of the City or contain property of 
the City.  The City has the right of access to such items at any time 
as determined necessary by the supervisor. 


301.13 City Records and Accounting 


All City records, including reports, vouchers, requisitions, payroll 
and personnel records must be prepared factually and accurately.  
It is the personal obligation of the employee completing such 
records as well as the supervisor to ensure that such records are 
accurate and comply with federal, state, and City record-keeping 
and accounting requirements. 


301.14 Telephone Usage 


City telephones are for official business use only and will be used 
in a professional manner.  Abusive, threatening or obscene phone 
calls are strictly prohibited. Use of City telephones for personal 
calls during office hours is discouraged.  A supervisor may permit 
the employee to make occasional calls if they do not interfere with 
the work duties and responsibilities of the employee, departmental 
operations, performance or services to the public. 


Personal use of City telephones for toll or long distance calls is 
strictly prohibited unless the call is charged to the employee’s 
personal credit card or home telephone.  Employees are 
responsible for ensuring that toll or long distance calls made for 
legitimate business purposes are appropriately and accurately 
documented. 


301.15 Automated Systems 


All automated systems, including electronic mail; Internet usage, 
software and hardware are for official City business.  All users will 
conduct themselves in a legal, professional and ethical manner. All 
automated systems are valuable and must be protected from 
misappropriation, abuse, misuse, theft, fraud, loss and 
unauthorized use or disposal.  Misappropriation of computer time, 
hardware or software includes, but is not limited to, using a 
computer to create or run unauthorized jobs, operating a computer 
in an unauthorized mode or intentionally causing any kind of 
operational malfunction or failure. 


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-7 


February 1, 2001 


 


Employees are required to terminate processing from their 
terminals/PCs using standard log-off procedures when not in use to 
prevent unauthorized use of such equipment.  Employees are 
required to report violations or suspected violations to their 
department director or, if the computer is under the control of the 
Information Systems Division (ISD), to the Chief Information 
Officer. 


Employees shall not use City computer time, hardware or software 
for any personal gain or profit.  Employees are required to comply 
with all policies, practices, and procedures promulgated by the 
Department of Finance and Administrative Services and approved 
by the Chief Administrative Officer regarding the use and security 
of automated systems. 


As used in this section, automated system and/or computer shall 
mean the City’s mainframe computer and peripheral equipment, 
any terminal or desktop computer, which communicates with a 
computer, network or mainframe and any standalone personal 
computers. 


301.16 Privileged Information 


Employees shall protect privileged information to which they have 
access in the course of their official duties.  Employees or former 
employees shall not disclose or use confidential information 
acquired through their employment with the City for the 
employees or another’s personal gain or profit. 


301.17 Supervision of Employees (March 5, 2005) 


Employees with supervisory duties or responsibilities shall, in all 
instances, ensure that all supervisory actions comply with the 
provisions of the Merit System Ordinance, Labor-Management 
Relations Ordinance, Personnel Rules and Regulations, 
Administrative Instructions, City Operator’s Permit, Substance 
Abuse Policy, applicable legislation, and relevant 
judicial/administrative decisions. 


301.18 Sales by Employees   


Employees are required to direct their attention to their duties and 
responsibilities during work hours.  No employee shall conduct or 
operate a personal business, which includes promotion, sales, 
scheduling or any related activity during work hours.  This 
includes the sale of goods or services for profit.  Employees may  


AQD Exhibit # 11b







Page 300-8 


February 1, 2001 


be allowed to conduct limited sales for fund raising activities 
during their lunch period or breaks. 


301.19 Community Activities 


As private citizens, employees may participate in public affairs and 
community oriented projects as a means of enhancing City  


 


governments’ contribution to the well being and quality of life of 
the citizens of Albuquerque.  Employees are responsible for 
complying with leave policies for activities that occur during 
scheduled work hours. 


 301.20 Direct Deposit 


All newly hired employees and reinstated employees are required 
to receive all employment wages through direct deposit.  An 
employee may not begin work prior to complying with this 
requirement. 


 302. REGULAR WORK HOURS 


Employees will perform their work in a responsible manner, observing 
scheduled work hours and complying with City policy governing paid and 
unpaid leave of absence.  Employees are further responsible for complying 
with City policy concerning sick and vacation leave usage. 


The department director shall specify the working time of their employees. 


 302.1 Lunch Periods/Breaks 


Lunch periods are usually one (1) hour, and breaks, fifteen (15) 
minutes, one (1) break period permitted in the first half of the day 
worked and one (1) in the second half of the day worked.  
Supervisors shall be responsible for scheduling and may limit 
breaks if, in their opinion, continuous work is required because of 
an emergency or unusual condition.  An unpaid lunch break of at 
least thirty (30) minutes will be provided.  In the event a non-
exempt employee is required to work during their lunch period, 
this time will be compensated in accordance with the Fair Labor 
Standards Act (FLSA).  Lunch periods and breaks may not be 
accumulated and used at other times or for other purposes.  


302.2 Overtime Work 


As a condition of employment, employees may be required to  


AQD Exhibit # 11b





		Ex No 11b COA Code of Conduct cover letter

		Ex No 11b 300 Conditions of Employment 301 Code of Conduct










AQD Exhibit # 2a







AQD Exhibit # 2a







AQD Exhibit # 2a












AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b







AQD Exhibit # 2b





		Ex No 2b MEHAB current cover letter

		Ex No 2b COA MEHAB current










(a)


(b)
(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


(h)


Bernalillo County, New Mexico, Code of Ordinances >> - BERNALILLO COUNTY CODE >> Chapter 42 -
HEALTH AND SANITATION >> ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVISORY BOARD
>>


ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVISORY BOARD [45]


Sec. 42-36. - Established.
Sec. 42-37. - Membership; terms; vacancies; appointments.
Sec. 42-38. - Meetings.
Sec. 42-39. - Functions.
Secs. 42-40—42-80. - Reserved.


Sec. 42-36. - Established.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board is hereby established.


(Ord. No. 302, § 1, 8-5-74)


Sec. 42-37. - Membership; terms; vacancies; appointments.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board will consist of seven members, three of
whom shall be appointed by the board of county commissioners and four of whom shall be
appointed by the mayor.
Members shall serve for three-year terms.
In years in which three terms expire, two of the vacancies shall be filled by individuals
appointed by the mayor, and one of the vacancies shall be filled by an individual appointed by
the board of county commissioners. In years in which four such terms expire, two of the
vacancies shall be filled by individuals appointed by the mayor, and two vacancies shall be filled
by individuals appointed by the board of county commissioners.
City-appointed members shall be residents of the City of Albuquerque, and county-appointed
members shall be residents of the county.
At least a majority of the membership of the board shall be individuals who represent the public
interest and meet the requirements of state and federal guidelines set forth in the New Mexico
Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) and the federal Clean Air Act (42 USCA
7401, et seq.), as amended. Further, to the extent that it does not conflict with this subsection,
board members shall be representative of such groups as environmental health, engineering,
legal, education, scientific, environmental or industrial interests.
At least two months before a term expires, the board shall submit to the appropriate body a list
of three names for each pending vacancy with a brief biographical sketch concerning
qualifications of each candidate. From this list, as modified or enlarged by the appropriate body,
appointments are to be made. Candidates appointed shall be notified in writing. If a vacancy
occurs for reasons other than expiration of term, the appointment shall be made by the body
having originally appointed the member and shall be for the remainder of the unexpired term.
Any board member having a pecuniary interest in matters before the board must disqualify
himself from the discussion and vote on such matters.
The director of the department of environmental health is an ex-officio member of the board, but
does not have a vote.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


1 of 2 5/18/2012 2:06 PM


AQD Exhibit # 3b







(a)


(b)


(c)


(1)


(2)
(3)


(4)


(5)


(Ord. No. 302, §§ 2(A)—(F), 3, 4, 8-5-74; Ord. No. 90-19, § 1, 8-21-90)


Sec. 42-38. - Meetings.


Quorum; rules. A quorum of four members is required for the metropolitan environmental health
advisory board to conduct business. The board will adopt rules to govern its proceedings.
Notice. The board will meet in appropriate public facilities providing seating arrangements for
the expected public. The board shall meet monthly, unless a special need requires that
additional meetings be held. Notice of time, place and agenda of meetings must be published as
prescribed by law. Meetings shall be open to the public as required by law.
Minutes. Minutes of board meetings shall be kept and filed with the city clerk and county clerk.
Additional copies, as indicated, shall be forwarded to the chief administrative officer and the
county manager.


(Ord. No. 302, § 2(G)—(I), 8-5-74; Ord. No. 90-19, § 1, 8-21-90)


Sec. 42-39. - Functions.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board shall:


Keep itself informed of community environmental health needs and to serve as a forum
for public discussion.
Recommend to the mayor and county managers, policies for program improvement.
Advise the environmental health department regarding environmental health needs and
programs.
Hold hearings and make recommendations on appeals from orders of the environmental
health authority as provided by other ordinances.
Perform the functions of the Albuquerque-Bernalillo County Air Quality Control Board as
provided in city and county air quality control board ordinances.


(Ord. No. 302, § 1, 8-5-74)


Secs. 42-40—42-80. - Reserved.


FOOTNOTE(S):
(45) Cross reference— Boards and commissions, § 2-431 et seq. (Back)


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


2 of 2 5/18/2012 2:06 PM


AQD Exhibit # 3b












AQD Exibit # 4a







AQD Exibit # 4a







AQD Exibit # 4a












(a)


(b)
(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


(h)


Bernalillo County, New Mexico, Code of Ordinances >> ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL
HEALTH ADVISORY BOARD >>


ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVISORY BOARD [45]


Sec. 42-36. - Established.
Sec. 42-37. - Membership; terms; vacancies; appointments.
Sec. 42-38. - Meetings.
Sec. 42-39. - Functions.
Secs. 42-40—42-80. - Reserved.


Sec. 42-36. - Established.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board is hereby established.


(Ord. No. 302, § 1, 8-5-74)


Sec. 42-37. - Membership; terms; vacancies; appointments.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board will consist of seven members, three of
whom shall be appointed by the board of county commissioners and four of whom shall be
appointed by the mayor.
Members shall serve for three-year terms.
In years in which three terms expire, two of the vacancies shall be filled by individuals appointed
by the mayor, and one of the vacancies shall be filled by an individual appointed by the board of
county commissioners. In years in which four such terms expire, two of the vacancies shall be
filled by individuals appointed by the mayor, and two vacancies shall be filled by individuals
appointed by the board of county commissioners.
City-appointed members shall be residents of the City of Albuquerque, and county-appointed
members shall be residents of the county.
At least a majority of the membership of the board shall be individuals who represent the public
interest and meet the requirements of state and federal guidelines set forth in the New Mexico Air
Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) and the federal Clean Air Act (42 USCA 7401,
et seq.), as amended. Further, to the extent that it does not conflict with this subsection, board
members shall be representative of such groups as environmental health, engineering, legal,
education, scientific, environmental or industrial interests.
At least two months before a term expires, the board shall submit to the appropriate body a list of
three names for each pending vacancy with a brief biographical sketch concerning qualifications
of each candidate. From this list, as modified or enlarged by the appropriate body, appointments
are to be made. Candidates appointed shall be notified in writing. If a vacancy occurs for reasons
other than expiration of term, the appointment shall be made by the body having originally
appointed the member and shall be for the remainder of the unexpired term.
Any board member having a pecuniary interest in matters before the board must disqualify himself
from the discussion and vote on such matters.
The director of the department of environmental health is an ex-officio member of the board, but
does not have a vote.


(Ord. No. 302, §§ 2(A)—(F), 3, 4, 8-5-74; Ord. No. 90-19, § 1, 8-21-90)


Sec. 42-38. - Meetings.


ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVI... http://search.municode.com/html/13071/level3/BECOCO_CH42HESA_...


1 of 2 1/25/2013 3:23 PM


AQD Exhibit # 4b







(a)


(b)


(c)


(1)


(2)
(3)


(4)


(5)


Quorum; rules. A quorum of four members is required for the metropolitan environmental health
advisory board to conduct business. The board will adopt rules to govern its proceedings.
Notice. The board will meet in appropriate public facilities providing seating arrangements for the
expected public. The board shall meet monthly, unless a special need requires that additional
meetings be held. Notice of time, place and agenda of meetings must be published as prescribed
by law. Meetings shall be open to the public as required by law.
Minutes. Minutes of board meetings shall be kept and filed with the city clerk and county clerk.
Additional copies, as indicated, shall be forwarded to the chief administrative officer and the
county manager.


(Ord. No. 302, § 2(G)—(I), 8-5-74; Ord. No. 90-19, § 1, 8-21-90)


Sec. 42-39. - Functions.


The metropolitan environmental health advisory board shall:


Keep itself informed of community environmental health needs and to serve as a forum for
public discussion.
Recommend to the mayor and county managers, policies for program improvement.
Advise the environmental health department regarding environmental health needs and
programs.
Hold hearings and make recommendations on appeals from orders of the environmental
health authority as provided by other ordinances.
Perform the functions of the Albuquerque-Bernalillo County Air Quality Control Board as
provided in city and county air quality control board ordinances.


(Ord. No. 302, § 1, 8-5-74)


Secs. 42-40—42-80. - Reserved.


FOOTNOTE(S):


(45) Cross reference— Boards and commissions, § 2-431 et seq. (Back)


ARTICLE II. - METROPOLITAN ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH ADVI... http://search.municode.com/html/13071/level3/BECOCO_CH42HESA_...


2 of 2 1/25/2013 3:23 PM


AQD Exhibit # 4b












AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a







AQD Exhibit # 5a












AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b







AQD Exhibit # 5b





		Ex No 5b Joint AQCB Ord current cover page

		Ex No 5c COA Joint AQCB Ord current










AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a







AQD Exhibit # 6a












Bernalillo County, New Mexico, Code of Ordinances >> - BERNALILLO COUNTY CODE >> Chapter 30 -
ENVIRONMENT >> ARTICLE II. - AIR POLLUTION >>


ARTICLE II. - AIR POLLUTION [32]


Sec. 30-31. - Definitions.
Sec. 30-32. - Joint air quality control board.
Sec. 30-33. - Duties and powers of the board.
Sec. 30-34. - Duties and powers of the department.
Sec. 30-35. - Adoption of regulations; notice and hearings.
Sec. 30-36. - Permits, permit appeals to the board and permit fees.
Sec. 30-37. - Variances.
Sec. 30-38. - Judicial review; administrative actions.
Sec. 30-39. - Emergency powers of the director.
Sec. 30-40. - Confidential information.
Sec. 30-41. - Limitations on article regulations.
Sec. 30-42. - Enforcement; compliance orders; field citations.
Sec. 30-43. - Civil penalty; representation of the county and the city.
Sec. 30-44. - Inspection.
Sec. 30-45. - Enforcement summaries.
Sec. 30-46. - Criminal penalties for violation of article.
Sec. 30-47. - Local air quality permit fund.
Secs. 30-48—30-75. - Reserved.


Sec. 30-31. - Definitions.


The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:


Air contaminant means any substance including, but not limited to, any particulate matter, fly
ash, dust, fumes, gas, mist, smoke, vapor, microorganisms, radioactive material, any combination
thereof or any decay or reaction product thereof.


Air pollution means the emission, except emission that occurs in nature, into the outdoor
atmosphere of one or more air contaminants in quantities and of a duration that may with reasonable
probability injure human health, or animal or plant life or as may unreasonably interfere with the public
welfare, visibility or the reasonable use of property.


Board means the Albuquerque-Bernalillo County Air Quality Control Board created by this
article.


Department means the administrative agency of the Albuquerque-Bernalillo County Air Quality
Control Board.


Director means the administrative head of the department or his authorized representative.


Emission limitation and emission standard means a requirement established by the board, the
department, or pursuant to the federal act that limits the quantity, rate or concentration, or combination
thereof, of emissions of air contaminants on a continuous basis, including any requirements relating to


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


1 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(1)
(2)


(1)
(2)
(3)


(4)
a.


b.
c.


the operation or maintenance of a source to ensure continuous reduction.


Environmental department means the environmental department of the state.


Federal act means the federal Clean Air Act, its subsequent amendments and successor
provisions.


Federal standard of performance means any standard of performance, emission limitation or
emission standard adopted pursuant to 42 USC 7411 or 7412.


Hazardous air pollutant means an air contaminant that has been classified as a hazardous air
pollutant pursuant to the federal act.


Mandatory class I area means any of the following areas in the state that were in existence on
August 7, 1977:


National wilderness areas that exceed 5,000 acres in size; and
National parks that exceed 6,000 acres in size.


Modification means any physical change in, or change in the method of operation of, a source
that results in an increase in the potential emission rate of any regulated air contaminant emitted by
the source or that results in the emission of any regulated air contaminant not previously emitted, but
does not include:


A change in ownership of the source;
Routine maintenance, repair or replacement;
Installation of air pollution control equipment and all related process equipment and
materials necessary for its operation, undertaken for the purpose of complying with
regulations adopted by the board or pursuant to the federal act; or
Unless previously limited by enforceable permit conditions:


An increase in the production rate, if such increase does not exceed the
operating design capacity of the source;
An increase in the hours of operation; or
Use of an alternative fuel or raw material if, prior to January 6, 1975, the source
was capable of accommodating such fuel or raw material, or if use of an alternate
fuel or raw material is caused by any natural gas curtailment or emergency
allocation or any other lack of supply of natural gas.


Nonattainment area means, for any air contaminant, an area that is designated "nonattainment"
with respect to that contaminant within the meaning of section 107(d) of the federal act.


Plan means any and all parts of the state implementation plan that pertain to the county that are
adopted by the board for submittal by the governor of the state to the federal environmental protection
agency pursuant to 42 USC 7410.


Potential emission rate means the emission rate of a source at its maximum capacity in the
absence of air pollution control equipment that is not vital to production of the normal product of the
source or to its normal operation, also defined by board regulations as precontrolled emissions.


Regulated air contaminant means any air contaminant, the emission or ambient concentration
of which is regulated pursuant to the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) or the
federal act.


Significant deterioration means any increase in the ambient concentrations of any air
contaminant above the levels allowed by the federal act or federal regulations for that air contaminant


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


2 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(a)


(b)
(1)


(2)


(3)


(4)
a.


b.


in the area within which the increase occurs.


Source means any structure, building, equipment, facility, installation or operation that emits or
may emit any air contaminant.


Standard of performance means a requirement of continuous emission reduction, including any
requirement relating to operation or maintenance of a source to ensure continuous emission
reduction.


State implementation plan means any plan submitted by the governor of the state to the federal
Environmental Protection Agency pursuant to 42 USC 7410.


Toxic air pollutant means any air contaminant, except a hazardous air pollutant, classified by
the board as a toxic air pollutant.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 2, 2-2-94)
Cross reference— Definitions generally, § 1-2.
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-2.


Sec. 30-32. - Joint air quality control board.


In accordance with the New Mexico Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), a
joint air quality control board known as the Albuquerque-Bernalillo County Air Quality Control
Board is hereby created. The board shall serve as a joint local authority acting on behalf of both
the county and the City of Albuquerque. Within the exterior boundaries of the county, the board
shall have authority and jurisdiction to exercise the same functions pertaining to air quality as
the functions that have been delegated by the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et
seq.) to the state environmental improvement board except any functions reserved exclusively
for the environmental improvement board.
The membership and organization of the board shall be as described below:


Members of the board previously appointed and serving on February 2, 1994, shall
continue serving their terms on the board. The length and termination date of their terms
of office shall not be affected by the passage of this article.
The board shall consist of seven members, three of whom shall be appointed by the
board of county commissioners, and four of whom shall be appointed by the city.
Members shall be appointed for three-year terms. No member shall serve more than two
consecutive terms at a time. The positions on the board shall be staggered appointments
so that no more than two city-appointee's terms expire in any single year, and no more
than one county-appointee's term expires in any single year. Vacant positions shall be
filled by individuals appointed by the same authority that appointed the outgoing member.
Nominations and appointments to the board shall be made as follows:


At least a majority of the membership of the board shall be individuals who
represent the public interest and meet the requirements of the state and federal
guidelines set forth in the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.),
as amended, and the federal Clean Air Act, 42 USC 7401 et seq., as amended.
Further, to the extent that the requirement does not conflict with this subsection
(b)(4)a of this section, board members will be selected for their concerns about,
and commitment to, the local ambient air quality. Therefore, selections may be
made from a broad range of persons representing the public interest and who are
experienced or trained in disciplines including natural sciences, humanities, social
studies, finance, medicine and health, engineering or physics, law, law
enforcement, education, business and industry.
No person employed by either the county or the City of Albuquerque shall be a


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


3 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







c.
d.


e.


(5)


(6)


(7)


(8)
(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(a)


(b)
(1)


member of the board. No elected county or city official, and no member of the
immediate family of any elected county or city official shall be appointed to the
board.
County-appointed members shall be residents of the county.
A board member may be removed from office by the appointing authority if the
member has missed three consecutive meetings or has been absent from more
than 50 percent of the meetings during any 12 consecutive meetings.
If a vacancy occurs for reasons other than expiration of a term, the department
shall promptly utilize the procedure described in subsection (b)(4)c of this section.
Each vacancy shall be filled by the authority that appointed the departing member.
The replacement member shall serve for the remainder of the unexpired term.


Four members present shall constitute a quorum. A quorum shall be present for all
matters decided by a vote of the board.
Any action, order or decision of the board requires a simple majority vote of the
members present, except for adoption, amendment or repeal of a board regulation, in
which case the concurrence of four members shall be required.
All officers of the board shall be elected annually by the board for one-year terms. No
officer shall serve in the same position for more than two consecutive years.
The board may adopt rules to govern its proceedings.


The board shall meet in public facilities with public seating available. The board shall meet
monthly if a quorum is available, unless a meeting is unnecessary or delayed for good reason.
The board shall hold a minimum of six monthly meetings a year. Special additional meetings
may be held as needed. Notice of time, place and agenda of meetings shall be published
according to the requirements of law. Meetings, work sessions and hearings of the board shall
be open to the public.
The director of the department shall record all transactions and proceedings of the board and
shall perform the duties required by the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.).
The director is the custodian of all files and records of the board, and shall meet with the board
but does not have a vote.
Any member of the board who has a conflict of interest regarding a matter before the board
shall disqualify himself from the discussion and shall abstain from the vote on such matter. A
conflict of interest means any interest which may yield, directly or indirectly, any monetary or
other material benefit to the board member or the member's spouse or minor child.
The county planning commission (CPC) and the city environmental planning commission (EPC)
may appoint a member of the CPC and of the EPC, respectively, to be liaisons to the air quality
control board. The CPC and EPC liaisons may attend board meetings and may participate in
board discussions, but will not be members of the board and will not have a vote. The
respective liaisons may communicate with the board and their respective planning commissions
regarding air quality issues.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 3, 2-2-94)
Cross reference— Boards and commissions, § 2-431 et seq.
State law reference— Local board, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-4.


Sec. 30-33. - Duties and powers of the board.


The board, in accordance with the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), shall
prevent or abate air pollution within the county and the City of Albuquerque.
The board shall:


Adopt, promulgate, publish, amend and repeal regulations consistent with the Air Quality
Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) and this article to attain and maintain national


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


4 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(2)


(c)
(1)


a.


b.


(2)


a.


b.


(3)


(4)


(5)
a.
b.


c.
d.


e.


(d)


(e)


(1)


(2)


(3)


ambient air quality standards, and prevent or abate air pollution, including regulations
prescribing air standards within the geographic area of the board's jurisdiction, or any
part thereof; and
Adopt a plan for the regulation, control, prevention or abatement of air pollution,
recognizing the differences, needs, requirements and conditions within the county or any
part of the county.


Regulations adopted by the board may:
Include regulations to protect visibility in mandatory class I areas, to prevent significant
deterioration of air quality and to achieve national ambient air quality standards in
nonattainment areas, provided that such regulations:


Shall be no more stringent than but at least as stringent as required by the federal
act and federal regulations pertaining to visibility protection in mandatory class I
areas, pertaining to prevention of significant deterioration and pertaining to
nonattainment areas; and
Shall be applicable only to sources subject to such regulation pursuant to the
federal act.


Prescribe standards of performance for sources and emission standards for hazardous
air pollutants that, except as provided in subsection (c)(3) of this section:


Shall be no more stringent than but at least as stringent as required by federal
standards of performance; and
Shall be applicable only to sources subject to such federal standards of
performance.


Include regulations governing emissions from solid waste incinerators that shall be at
least as stringent as, and may be more stringent than, any applicable federal emissions
limitations.
Require notice to the department of the intent to introduce or allow the introduction of an
air contaminant into the air within the geographical area of the board's jurisdiction.
Require any person emitting any air contaminant to:


Install, use and maintain emission monitoring devices;
Sample emissions in accordance with methods and at locations and intervals as
may be prescribed by the board;
Establish and maintain records of the nature and amount of emissions;
Submit reports regarding the nature and amounts of emissions and the
performance of emission control devices; and
Provide any other reasonable information relating to the emission of air
contaminants.


Any regulation adopted under this section shall be consistent with federal law, if any, relating to
control of motor vehicle emission.
In making its regulations, the board shall give the weight it deems appropriate to all facts and
circumstances, including but not limited to:


Character and degree of injury to or interference with health, welfare, visibility and
property;
The public interest, including the social and economic value of the sources and subjects
of air contaminants; and
Technical practicability and economic reasonableness of reducing or eliminating air
contaminants from the sources involved and previous experience with equipment and
methods available to control the air contaminants involved.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 4, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-5.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


5 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(a)


(b)


(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


(h)


(i)


(a)


(b)


Sec. 30-34. - Duties and powers of the department.


The department shall administer and enforce the provisions of the Air Quality Control Act
(NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), this article and any regulations adopted pursuant thereto and
any other laws relating to air pollution applicable within the county and the City of Albuquerque.
The staff for the board shall be provided by the City of Albuquerque. The department shall
perform, within the boundaries of the county, all functions delegated to the state environment
department under the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), except for the
duties and powers reserved exclusively for the state environment department.
The department shall develop facts and make investigations and studies consistent with the Air
Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) and this article and, as required for
enforcement of such act and this article, enter at all reasonable times in or upon any private or
public property, except private residences, that the department or the local agency has
reasonable cause to believe is or will become a source contributing to air pollution and require
the production of information relating to emissions that cause or contribute to air pollution. The
results of any such investigations shall be reduced to writing if any enforcement action is
contemplated, and a copy shall be furnished to the owner or occupants of the premises before
the action is filed.
The department shall institute legal proceedings to compel compliance with the Air Quality
Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), this article or any regulation of the board.
The department shall encourage and make every reasonable effort to obtain voluntary
cooperation by the owner or occupants to preserve, restore or improve air purity.
The department shall consult with any person proposing to construct, install or otherwise
acquire an air contaminant source, device, system or control mechanism concerning the
efficiency of the device, system or mechanism or the air pollution problem that may be related
to the source, device, system or mechanism, provided that consultation shall not relieve any
person from compliance with the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), this
article, regulations in force pursuant thereto, and any other provision of law.
The department shall establish a small business stationary source technical and environmental
compliance assistance program, consistent with the provisions of section 507 and of the
federal act.
The department shall accept, receive and administer grants or other funds or gifts from public
and private agencies, including the federal government or from any person.
The department shall classify and record air contaminant sources that, in its judgment, may
cause or contribute to air pollution according to levels and types of emissions and other
characteristics that relate to air pollution, provided that classifications may be for application to
the county as a whole or to any designated area of the county and city, and shall be made with
special reference to effects on health, economic and social factors and physical effects on
property.
The department shall develop and present to the board a plan for the regulation, control,
prevention or abatement of air pollution, recognizing the differences, needs, requirements and
conditions in the different portions of the geographical area of the department's responsibility
as established by this article.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 5, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-5.1.


Sec. 30-35. - Adoption of regulations; notice and hearings.


Any person may recommend or propose regulations to the board for adoption. The board shall
determine whether to hold a hearing within 60 days of submission of a proposed regulation.
No regulation or emission control requirement shall be adopted until after a public hearing by the


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


6 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


(a)
(1)


(2)


(b)
(1)


(2)


a.


b.


(3)


board. As used in this section, the term "regulation" includes any amendment or repeal thereof.
Notice of the hearing shall be given at least 30 days prior to the hearing date and shall state the
subject, the time and the place of the hearing and the manner in which interested persons may
present their views. The notice shall also state where interested persons may secure copies of
any proposed regulation or air quality standard. The notice shall be published in a newspaper of
general circulation in the county and city. Reasonable effort shall be made to give notice to all
persons who have made a written request to the board for advance notice of its hearings.
At the hearing, the board shall allow all interested persons reasonable opportunity to submit
data, views or arguments orally or in writing and to examine witnesses testifying at the hearing.
Any person heard or represented at the hearing shall be given written notice of the action of the
board.
The board may designate a hearing officer to take evidence, and the hearing officer may make
recommendations to the board.
No regulation or emission control requirement adopted by the board shall become effective until
30 days after its filing under the State Rules Act (NMSA 1978, §§ 14-3-24, 14-3-25, 14-4-1 et
seq.).
A copy of adopted air quality control regulations shall be on file in the office of the county clerk
and shall be available for inspection by the public during regular business hours. Copies of such
regulations shall be available to any person upon request and payment of a reasonable charge
set by the county clerk.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 6, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-6.


Sec. 30-36. - Permits, permit appeals to the board and permit fees.


By regulation, the board shall require:
Any person intending to construct or modify any source, except as otherwise specifically
provided by regulation, to obtain a construction permit from the department prior to such
construction or modification; and
Any person intending to operate any source for which an operating permit is required
pursuant to the 1990 amendments to the federal act, except as otherwise specifically
provided by regulation, to obtain an operating permit from the department.


Regulations adopted by the board shall include at least the following provisions:
Requirements for the submission of relevant information including, but not limited to,
information the department deems necessary to ensure that regulations and standards
under this article, the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) or the
federal act will not be violated;
Specification of the deadlines for processing permit applications, provided the deadline
for a final decision by the department on a construction permit application may not
exceed:


One hundred eighty days after the application is determined to be complete, if the
application is not affected by requirements for prevention of significant
deterioration; or
Two hundred forty days after the application is determined to be complete, if the
application is affected by requirements for prevention of significant deterioration.


Specification of the public notice, comment period and public hearing, if any, required
prior to the issuance of a permit, provided the permit regulations adopted include
provisions requiring that notice be given to the state environment department of all
applications by any source that emits, or has a potential emission rate of, 100 tons per
year or more of any regulated air contaminant, including any source of fugitive emissions


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


7 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(4)
a.


b.


(5)


(6)


(7)
a.


b.
c.


(c)
(1)


(2)
a.


b.


c.


(d)
(1)


(2)
a.


b.
c.


of any regulated air contaminant, at least 60 days prior to the date on which construction
or major modification is to commence.
A schedule of construction permit fees sufficient to cover:


The reasonable costs of reviewing and acting upon any application for such
permit; and
The reasonable costs of implementing and enforcing the terms and conditions of
the permit, excluding any court or other costs associated with an enforcement
action.


A schedule of emission fees consistent with the provisions of section 502(b)(3) of the
1990 amendments to the federal act.
Specification of the maximum length of time for which a permit shall be valid, provided
that for an operating permit, such period may not exceed five years.
For an operating permit only:


Provisions consistent with sections 502(b) and 505(b) of the federal act that
require: notice to, and review and comment by, the United States Environmental
Protection Agency; and if the department receives notice of objection from the
United States Environmental Protection Agency before the operating permit is
issued, the department shall not issue the permit unless the permit is revised and
issued pursuant to section 505(c) of the federal act;
Provisions governing renewal of the operating permit; and
Specification of the conditions under which the operating permit may be
terminated, modified or revoked and reissued prior to the expiration of the term of
the operating permit.


The department may deny any application for:
A construction permit if it appears that the construction or modification will not meet
applicable requirements of this article, the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1
et seq.), the federal act or any regulation adopted pursuant thereto; or
An operating permit if:


The source for which the permit is sought will emit a hazardous air pollutant or any
air contaminant in excess of a federal standard of performance or a regulation of
the board;
It appears that the source for which the permit is sought will cause or contribute to
air contaminant levels in excess of any national, state or applicable local ambient
air quality standard; or
Any other provision of this article, the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.) or the federal act will be violated.


The department may specify conditions to any permit granted under this section, including:
For a construction permit, a requirement that such source install and operate control
technology, determined on a case-by-case basis, sufficient to meet the requirements of
this article, the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), the federal act or
any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto; and
For an operating permit:


Imposition of individual emission limits, determined on a case-by-case basis, but
only as restrictive as necessary to meet the requirements of the Air Quality
Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) and the federal act or the emission
rate specified in the operating permit application, whichever is most stringent;
Compliance with applicable federal standards of performance;
Imposition of reasonable restrictions and limitations not relating to emission limits
or emission rates; or


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


8 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







d.
(e)


(f)


(g)


(h)


(i)


(j)


(k)


(l)


(m)


(a)


(1)


Any combination of the conditions listed in this subsection (d).
This section does not authorize the department to require the use of machinery, devices or
equipment from a particular manufacturer if the federal standards of performance, regulations of
the board and permit conditions may be met by machinery, devices or equipment otherwise
available.
The issuance of a construction or operating permit does not relieve any person from the
responsibility of complying with the provisions of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.), this article or any applicable regulations of the board. Any conditions placed
upon a permit by the department shall be enforceable to the same extent as a regulation of the
board.
Any person who participated in a permitting action before the department shall be notified by the
department of the action taken by the department and the reasons for the action. Notification of
the applicant shall be by certified mail.
Any person who participated in a permitting action before the department and who is adversely
affected by such permitting action may file a petition for hearing before the board. The petition
shall be made in writing to the board within 30 days from the date notice is given of the
department's action. Unless a timely request for hearing is made, the decision of the
department shall be final.
If a timely petition for hearing is made, the board shall hold a hearing within 90 days after
receipt of the petition. The board shall notify the petitioner and the applicant or permittee, if
other than the petitioner, by certified mail of the date, time and place of the hearing. If the
subject of the petition is a permitting action deemed by the board to substantially affect the
public interest, the board shall ensure that the public receives notice of the date, time and place
of the hearing. The public in such circumstances shall also be given a reasonable opportunity to
submit data, views or arguments orally or in writing and to examine witnesses testifying at the
hearing. Any person submitting data, views or arguments orally or in writing shall be subject to
examination at the hearing.
The board may designate a hearing officer to take evidence in the hearing. All hearings shall be
recorded.
The burden of proof shall be upon the petitioner. Based upon the evidence presented at the
hearing, the board shall sustain, modify or reverse the action of the department.
Notwithstanding any other provision of law and subject to the provisions of NMSA 1978, §
74-2-4, a final decision on a permit by the department, the board or the court of appeals that a
new source will or will not meet applicable local, state, and federal air pollution standards and
regulations shall be conclusive and is binding on the county, the City of Albuquerque and every
state agency and, as an issue before the same, shall be deemed resolved in accordance with
that final decision.
Fees collected pursuant to this section shall be deposited in a fund created pursuant to NMSA
1978, § 74-2-16 if collected pursuant to a permit regulation adopted by the board pursuant to
this section.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 7, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-7.


Sec. 30-37. - Variances.


The board may grant an individual variance from the limitations prescribed under the Air Quality
Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.), this article, any regulation of the board, or any
permit condition imposed by the department whenever it is found, upon presentation of
adequate proof that:


Compliance with any part of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.),
this article, any regulation of the board, or any permit condition will:


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


9 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







a.
b.


(2)
a.
b.


(b)


(c)


(1)


(2)


(3)


(d)


(e)
(1)


(2)


(f)


(a)


(b)


(c)
(1)


Result in an arbitrary and unreasonable taking of property; or
Impose an undue economic burden upon any lawful business, occupation or
activity; and


The granting of the variance will not:
Result in a condition injurious to health or safety; or
Cause or contribute to an air contaminant level in excess of any primary national
ambient air standard.


No variance shall be granted pursuant to this section until the board has considered the relative
interests of the applicant, the other owners of property likely to be affected by the discharges
and the general public.
Any variance or renewal thereof shall be granted within the requirements of subsection (a) of
this section and for time periods and under conditions consistent with the reasons therefor, and
within the following limitations:


If the variance is granted on the ground that there are no practicable means known or
available for the adequate prevention, abatement or control of the air pollution involved,
it shall be only until the necessary means for prevention, abatement or control become
known and available.
If the variance is granted on the grounds that compliance with the particular requirements
from which variance is sought will necessitate the taking of measures that, because of
their extent or cost, must be spread over a considerable period of time, it shall be for a
period not to exceed such reasonable time as, in the view of the board, is requisite for
the taking of the necessary measures. A variance granted on the grounds specified in
this subsection (c)(2) shall contain a timetable for the taking of action in an expeditious
manner and shall be conditioned on adherence to the timetable.
If the variance is granted on the grounds that it is justified to relieve or prevent hardship
of a kind other than that provided for in subsections (c)(1) and (c)(2) of this section, it
shall be for not more than one year.


Any person seeking a variance shall do so by filing a petition for variance with the director. The
director shall promptly investigate the petition and make a recommendation to the board as to
the disposition of the petition.
Upon receiving the recommendation of the director on the variance, the board shall:


If the recommendation of the director favors a variance, hold a public hearing prior to the
granting of any variance; and
If the director is opposed to the granting of the variance, hold a hearing only upon the
request of the petitioner.


In the hearing, the burden of proof shall be upon the petitioner.
(Ord. No. 94-5, § 8, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-8.


Sec. 30-38. - Judicial review; administrative actions.


Any person adversely affected by an administrative action taken by the board or the director
may appeal to the court of appeals. All appeals shall be upon the record made at the hearing
and shall be taken to the court of appeals within 30 days following the date of the action being
appealed.
For appeals of regulations, that date of the action shall be the date of the filing of the regulation
by the board pursuant to the State Rules Act, (NMSA 1978, §§ 14-3-24, 14-3-25, 14-4-1 et
seq.).
Upon appeal, the court of appeals shall set aside the action only if found to be:


Arbitrary, capricious or an abuse of discretion;


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


10 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(2)
(3)


(d)


(1)
(2)


(a)


(b)


(a)


(1)


(2)


(3)


(b)


Not supported by substantial evidence in the record; or
Otherwise not in accordance with law.


After a hearing and a showing of good cause by the appellant, a stay of action being appealed
may be granted:


By the board or the director, whichever took the action being appealed; or
By the court of appeals if the board or the director denies a stay or fails to act upon an
application for a stay within 60 days after receipt of the application.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 9, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-9.


Sec. 30-39. - Emergency powers of the director.


Notwithstanding any other provision of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et
seq.), this article or any regulation of the board, if the director of the department determines
that a source or combination of sources present an imminent and substantial endangerment to
the public health or welfare or to the environment, the director may bring suit in the district court
for the county to restrain immediately any person causing or contributing to the alleged air
pollution to stop the emission of air contaminants causing or contributing to such air pollution or
to take such other action as may be necessary.
If it is not practicable to ensure prompt protection of the public health or welfare or the
environment by commencement of a civil action, the director may issue orders necessary to
protect the public health or welfare or the environment. An order shall be effective for a period
of not more than 24 hours, unless the director brings a civil action before the expiration of the
24 hours. If the director brings an action within that time, the order shall be effective thereafter
for 48 hours or for such longer period as may be authorized by the court pending litigation.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 10, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-10.


Sec. 30-40. - Confidential information.


Any records, reports or information obtained under the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.) or this article by the board or the department shall be available to the public,
except that upon a satisfactory showing to the director or the board, as applicable, by any
person that records, reports or information, or particular parts thereof, except emission data, to
which the director or the board has access under the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.), if made public would divulge confidential business records or methods or
processes entitled to protection as trade secrets of that person, the director or the board, as
applicable, shall consider such record, report or information, or particular portion thereof,
confidential in accordance with the provisions of NMSA 1978, § 14-2-1 and 18 USC 1905,
except that such record, report or other information may be disclosed:


To other officers, employees or authorized representatives of the department or the
board concerned with carrying out the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et
seq.);
To officers, employees or authorized representatives of the United States Environmental
Protection Agency concerned with carrying out the federal act; or
When relevant, in any proceeding under the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.) or the federal act.


The board shall adopt regulations to implement this section, including regulations specifying
those business records entitled to treatment as confidential records.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 11, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-11.


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


11 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(1)


(2)


(3)


(a)


(1)


(2)


(b)


(c)


(d)


(e)


(f)


(g)


Sec. 30-41. - Limitations on article regulations.


This article does not:


Authorize the board to make any regulation with respect to any condition or quality of the
outdoor atmosphere if the condition or air quality level and its effect are confined entirely
within the boundaries of the industrial or manufacturing property within which the air
contaminants are or may be emitted and public access is restricted within such
boundaries;
Grant to the board any jurisdiction or authority affecting the relation between employees
and employers with respect to or arising out of any condition of air quality; or
Supersede or limit the applicability of any law relating to industrial health, safety or
sanitation.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 12, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-11.1.


Sec. 30-42. - Enforcement; compliance orders; field citations.


Whenever, on the basis of any information, the director determines that any person has
violated or is violating any requirement or prohibition of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978,
§ 74-2-1 et seq.), this article, any regulation promulgated pursuant to this article, or any
condition of a permit issued pursuant thereto, the director may:


Issue a compliance order stating with reasonable specificity the nature of the violation
and requiring compliance immediately or within a specified time period or assessing a
civil penalty for any past or current violation, or both; or
Commence a civil action in district court for appropriate relief, including a temporary or
permanent injunction.


Any order issued pursuant to subsection (a) of this section may include a suspension or
revocation of any permit, or portion of a permit, issued by the director. Any penalty assessed in
the order shall not exceed $15,000.00 per day of noncompliance for each violation.
Any order issued pursuant to subsection (a) of this section shall become final unless, no later
than 30 days after the order is served, the person named in this section submits a written
request to the director for a public hearing. Upon such request, the director shall promptly
conduct a public hearing. The director shall appoint an independent hearing officer to preside
over the public hearing. The hearing officer shall make and preserve a complete record of the
proceedings and forward the hearing officer's recommendation based thereon to the director,
who shall make the final decision.
The board may adopt a field citation program though regulations establishing appropriate minor
violations for which field citations assessing civil penalties not to exceed $1,000.00 per day of
violation may be issued by officers or employees of the department as designated by the
director. The program will be implemented by the department.
Any person to whom a field citation is issued pursuant to subsection (d) of this section may,
within a reasonable time as prescribed by regulation by the board, elect to pay the penalty
assessment or to request a hearing by the issuing agency on the field citation. If a request for
hearing is not made within the time specified in the regulation, the penalty assessment in the
field citation shall be final.
Payment of a civil penalty required by a field citation issued pursuant to subsection (d) of this
section shall not be a defense to further enforcement by the department to correct a violation or
to assess the maximum statutory penalty pursuant to other authorities in the Air Quality Control
Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) or this article if the violation continues.
In determining the amount of any penalty to be assessed pursuant to this section, the director


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


12 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







(h)


(i)


(a)


(b)


(1)
(2)


(1)


(2)
a.


b.


c.


(3)


(4)


a.


b.


c.


or the individual issuing a field citation shall take into account the seriousness of the violation,
any good faith efforts to comply with the applicable requirements and other relevant factors.
In connection with any proceeding under this section, the director may issue subpoenas for the
attendance and testimony of witnesses and the production of relevant papers, books and
documents and may adopt rules for discovery procedures.
Penalties collected pursuant to an administrative order or a field citation shall be deposited in
the county or City of Albuquerque general fund, as applicable.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 13, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-12.


Sec. 30-43. - Civil penalty; representation of the county and the city.


Any person who violates any provision of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et
seq.), this article, any regulation of the board or any permit condition or emergency order
adopted or issued pursuant to that act or this article may be assessed a civil penalty not to
exceed $15,000.00 for each day during any portion of which a violation occurs.
In any court action to enforce the provisions of the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, §
74-2-1 et seq.) or this article or regulation, permit condition or emergency order, adopted,
imposed or issued pursuant thereto:


The county shall be represented by the district attorney; and
The City of Albuquerque shall be represented by the city attorney.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 14, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-12.1.


Sec. 30-44. - Inspection.


The director or an authorized representative, upon presentation of departmental credentials:


Shall have a right of entry to, upon or through any premises on which an emission
source is located or on which any records required to be maintained by regulations of
the board or any permit conditions are located; and
May at reasonable times:


Have access to and copy any records required to be established and maintained
by regulations of the board or any permit condition;
Inspect any monitoring equipment and method required by regulation of the board
or by any permit condition; and
Sample any emissions that are required to be sampled pursuant to regulation of
the board or any permit condition.


If premises described in subsection (1) or (2) of this section are unoccupied, a
department employee shall first make a reasonable effort to locate the owner or other
person having charge or control of the premises and demand entry.
If entry is refused, the department shall proceed to obtain a search warrant by filing the
documents and following the procedures required by the district court or metropolitan
court. The sworn statement filed in conjunction with the application for the search
warrant or order shall:


Set forth the particular premises, or portion of the premises, sought to be
inspected;
State that the owner or occupant of the premises, or portion of the premises, has
refused entry;
State that inspection of the premises or portion of the premises is necessary to
determine whether it complies with the requirements of this article;


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


13 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







d.
e.


f.


(a)


(b)


(c)


(a)


(b)


(1)
(2)


(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)


Set forth the particular provisions of this article sought to be enforced;
Set forth any other reason necessitating the inspection, including knowledge or
belief that a particular condition exists in the premises, or portion of the premises,
which constitutes a violation of this article; and
State that the department or the department's designated representative is
authorized by the county manager to make the inspection.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 15, 2-2-94)
State law reference— Similar provisions, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-13.


Sec. 30-45. - Enforcement summaries.


The department shall deliver to the county manager and the board of county commissioners,
and to the mayor and city councilors or the designated representatives of any of them, a copy of the
monthly enforcement summary which the department submits to the board.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 16, 2-2-94)


Sec. 30-46. - Criminal penalties for violation of article.


Any person who knowingly commits any violation of this article or NMSA 1978, § 74-2-14(C)
shall be punished as provided in section 1-6
Any person who knowingly makes any false statement, representation or certification in any
application, record, report, plan or other document filed or required to be maintained under the
Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) or a board regulation or who falsifies,
tampers with or knowingly renders inaccurate any monitoring device or method to be
maintained under the Air Quality Control Act (NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq.) or this article or
regulation adopted pursuant thereto is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall, upon conviction, be
punished as provided in section 1-6
Except as provided in NMSA 1978, § 74-2-14(C), (D), any person who knowingly commits any
violation of a regulation of the board is guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be sentenced in
accordance with the provisions of NMSA 1978, § 31-19-1.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 17, 2-2-94)


Sec. 30-47. - Local air quality permit fund.


Pursuant to NMSA 1978, § 74-2-16 and this article, the city will establish an environmental
health department air quality permit fund.
All fees collected by the department shall be deposited in the fund created in subsection (a) of
this section, and shall be used by the city only for the purpose of paying the reasonable costs
of funding the department's performance for the county and the city of the following permitting
functions required by the federal Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 as follows:


Reviewing and acting upon any application for a permit;
If the owner or operator receives a permit, implementing and enforcing the terms and
conditions of such permit, not including any court costs or other costs associated with
any enforcement action;
Emissions and ambient monitoring;
Preparing generally applicable regulations or guidance;
Modeling, analysis and demonstration; and
Preparing inventories and tracking emissions.


(Ord. No. 94-5, § 18, 2-2-94)


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


14 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b







Secs. 30-48—30-75. - Reserved.


FOOTNOTE(S):
(32) State Law reference— Air Quality Control Act, NMSA 1978, § 74-2-1 et seq. (Back)


Municode http://library.municode.com/print.aspx?clientID=13071&HTMRequest=htt...


15 of 15 5/18/2012 2:27 PM


AQD Exhibit # 6b












AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a







AQD Exhibit # 7a












AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b







AQD Exhibit # 7b





		Ex No 7b Public Boards current cover page

		Ex No 7b COA Public Boards current










AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a







AQD Exhibit # 8a












AQD Exhibit # 8b







AQD Exhibit # 8b







AQD Exhibit # 8b







AQD Exhibit # 8b







AQD Exhibit # 8b





		Ex No 8b COA Conflict of Interest cover page

		Ex No 8b COA Conflict of Interest current










AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a







AQD Exhibit # 9a












AQD Exhibit # 9b







AQD Exhibit # 9b







AQD Exhibit # 9b





		Ex No 9b COA Conflict of Interest current cover letter

		Ex No 9b COA Conflict of Interest current







